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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No. 1:16-cv-3162

JOAN OBESLO,

STEVE MIGOTTI,

VALERIE MIGOTTI,

JAMES DIMAGGIO,

ANNE HALL,

CAROL A. REYNON-LONGORIA,
CYNTHIA BERNAL, and

TINA GORRELL-DEYERLE

on behalf of GREAT-WEST FUNDS, INC.,

Plaintiffs,
V.

GREAT-WEST LIFE AND ANNUITY INSURANCE COMPANY, and
GREAT-WEST CAPITAL MANAGEMENT, LLC,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

Jury trial demanded

1. Plaintiffs bring this action on behalf of and for the benefit of themselves and all
other shareholders of Great-West Funds Inc. to recover excessive and unlawful fees
paid in violation of 836(b) of the Investment Company Act, 15 U.S.C. 880a-35(b), as
well as lost profits and other actual damages caused to shareholders of Great-West
Funds Inc. as a result of excessive compensation that Defendants caused Great-West

Funds Inc. to pay to Great-West Life & Annuity Insurance Company.
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Great-West Funds, Inc.

2. Great-West Funds, Inc. is a Maryland corporation with its principal place of
business presently located in Denver, Colorado. It was incorporated in Maryland in 1981
as Maxim Series Fund Inc. and commenced business as an investment company in
1982. In 2012, it changed its name to Great-West Funds, Inc.

3. Great-West Funds is a registered, open-end management investment company
under 83 and 84 of the Investment Company Act, 15 U.S.C. 880a-3 and §80a-4. It
issues shares of its stock in series that it calls Funds, and has had and presently has
approximately 63 Funds.

4. The Funds are insurance-dedicated mutual funds, which means they are available
only through insurance company separate accounts to fund variable annuity contracts
and variable life insurance policies issued by Defendant Great-West Life & Annuity
Insurance Company or its subsidiaries as part of a retirement plan. Fund shares are
held primarily in small and medium sized company and government IRC 8401(k)
retirement plans, with smaller amounts held in rollover individual retirement accounts,
IRC 8457 government retirement plans, and IRC 8403(b) not-for-profit programs.
Shares are not sold directly to the public. Thus, a participant in a Great-West retirement
plan is limited in her investment choices to the Funds that are included in that plan and
has no choice over the fees that are deducted from those Funds.

5. Great-West Funds is governed by a board of directors that, during the time in suit,
has consisted of Gail H. Klapper, Stephen G. McConahey, Donna L. Lynne (until June

2016), and one director affiliated with Defendant Great-West Life & Annuity Insurance
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Company. Apart from their work as directors of Great-West Funds Inc., none of the
three non-affiliated directors have any experience working for or serving as a director of
an investment company or investment adviser.

6. None of the directors owned either directly or beneficially any share of the Funds
at any time at issue in this action, or at present.

Great-West Life & Annuity Insurance Company (GWLA)

7. Defendant Great-West Life & Annuity Insurance Co. (GWLA) is an insurance
company domiciled in Denver, Colorado. It is wholly owned, through a number of
subsidiaries, by Great-West Lifeco Inc., a Canadian holding company. The shares of
Great-West Lifeco Inc. are publicly traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange as GWO.

8. The vast majority of GWLA's business (over 95%) consists of providing retirement
plans through its business name “Empower Retirement.” As of 2014, GWLA also does
business as “Great-West Financial.”

Great-West Capital Management LLC (GWCM)

9. Defendant Great-West Capital Management LLC (GWCM) is a limited liability
company organized under Colorado law that presently maintains its principal place of
business in Denver, Colorado at the same address as GWLA and Great-West Funds
(8515 East Orchard Road, Greenwood Village, Colorado). GWCM incorporated in
Colorado as GW Capital Management Inc. in 1994, converted to a limited liability
company in 1997, and changed its name to Great-West Capital Management LLC in
2012. It formerly was named Maxim Capital Management, LLC. GWCM is a wholly

owned subsidiary of GWLA. As such, GWCM and GWLA are affiliated persons of each
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other under the Investment Company Act.

10. GWCM does not have its own employees and officers. Instead, it is provided
employees and officers from its parent GWLA. GWLA pays all of the expenses and
provides all the facilities for GWCM to conduct its business and advances GWCM all
funds that GWCM needs to conduct its business.

11. GWCM registered with the SEC as an investment adviser under the Investment
Advisers Act in 1996. GWCM is the investment adviser of all the Funds under the terms
of a single Investment Advisory Agreement dated May 1, 2015. GWCM created Great-
West Funds for the benefit of GWLA and to further GWLA's business. GWCM has
earned substantial and excessive profits from the fees it gets from the Funds and has
passed and passes those profits on to GWLA in the form of dividends and other
payments, including nominal reimbursement of expenses and payments on contracts by
which it purportedly hired GWLA to provide services to the Funds.

Plaintiffs

12. Plaintiff Joan Obeslo resides in Littleton, Colorado, and has been a shareholder
of Great-West Funds throughout the relevant time period. She is a former life claims
examiner at Great-West Life & Annuity Insurance Company, and is currently retired.
She is an investor in Great-West Funds via an IRA administered by Empower
Retirement.

13. Plaintiff Steve Migotti resides in Gonzales, California, and is a heavy equipment
operator. He has been a shareholder of Great-West Funds throughout the relevant time

period through investments held in a traditional IRA administered by Empower
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Retirement.

14. Plaintiff Valerie Migotti resides in Gonzales, California. She is a former code
enforcement officer for Monterey County, and is currently retired. She has been a
shareholder of Great-West Funds throughout the relevant time period through
investments held in a traditional IRA administered by Empower Retirement.

15. Plaintiff James DiMaggio resides in Marina, CA. He is a former geographic
information systems analyst for Monterey County, and is currently retired. He has been
a shareholder of Great-West Funds throughout the relevant time period as a participant
in the Monterey County Deferred Comp Plan administered by Empower Retirement.

16. Plaintiff Anne Hall resides in Pacific Grove, California, and is a court reporter for
the Superior Court of Monterey County. She has been a shareholder of Great-West
Funds, Inc. throughout the relevant time period through investments held in the Superior
Court of California, Monterey County Deferred Compensation Plan administered by
Empower Retirement.

17. Plaintiff Carol Reynon-Longoria resides in Soledad, California, and is an
accountant for Monterey County. She has been a shareholder of Great-West Funds
throughout the relevant time period through investments held in the Monterey County
Deferred Comp Plan administered by Empower Retirement.

18. Plaintiff Cynthia Bernal resides in Salinas, California. She has been a
shareholder of Great-West Funds, Inc. throughout the relevant time period through the
Monterey County Deferred Comp Plan administered by Empower Retirement.

19. Plaintiff Tina Gorrell-Deyerle resides in Pacific Grove, California. She has been a
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shareholder of Great-West Funds, Inc. throughout the relevant time period through the
Superior Court of California, Monterey County Deferred Compensation Plan
administered by Empower Retirement.

Jurisdiction and Venue

20.This Court has jurisdiction of the claims under 15 U.S.C. §880a-35(b)(5), 80a-43,
and 28 U.S.C. §1331.

21. Venue is proper in this judicial district under 15 U.S.C. 880a-42 and 28 U.S.C.
81391 because Defendants reside in this district, maintain their common office in this
district, and/or transact business in this district, and because certain of the acts and
transactions giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims occurred in this district.

GWCM'’s and GWLA's fiduciary duties
under ICA 836(b)

22.Section 36(b) of the Investment Company Act imposes a “fiduciary duty [on
investment advisers] with respect to the receipt of compensation for services.” 15
U.S.C. 880a-35(b). It authorizes any security holder of an investment company to bring
an action on behalf of the investment company against the investment adviser of that
company and an affiliated person of that adviser who has a fiduciary duty concerning
such compensation or payments, for breach of fiduciary duty in respect of such
compensation or payments paid by such investment company or by the security holders
thereof to such investment adviser or person and to recover the investment company’s
actual damages resulting from the breach. An adviser or affiliate breaches it fiduciary
duty and is liable for the investment company’s actual damages if it takes compensation

that is so disproportionately large that it bears no reasonable relationship to the services

6
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rendered and could not have been the product of arm’s-length bargaining. Jones v.
Harris Assocs. LP, 559 U.S. 335, 346 (2010). A transaction that does not carry the
earmarks of an arm’s-length bargain will be set aside. Id. at 347.

The Administrative Services Agreement

Between Great-West funds
and Great-West Life & Annuity Insurance Co.

23.Since at least 2006 and until mid-2015, GWCM contracted with GWLA under the
terms of an “Administrative Services Agreement” by which GWCM agreed to pay GWLA
an amount equal to 35 basis points (0.35%) of the average daily net assets of the
Funds. This was purportedly in return for GWLA providing the Funds administrative and
recordkeeping services such as maintaining a record of the number of Fund shares held
by each Fund shareholder, performing the required sub-accounting necessary to record
retirement plan participant interests in Funds, investigating inquiries from retirement
plan representatives or Fund shareholders, and recording the ownership interest of
Fund shareholders and maintaining a record of the total number of shares issued to
shareholders.

24. Neither the Board of Directors of Great-West Funds nor the shareholders of
Great-West Funds approved the Administrative Services Agreement between GWCM
and GWLA. Since GWCM is a wholly owned subsidiary of GWLA that passes all of its
profits on to GWLA in various forms, the Administrative Services Agreement did not
result from arm’s-length bargaining between GWLA and GWCM and is not evidence of
reasonable compensation for the services GWLA nominally provides under the

Agreement. Instead, the Administrative Services Agreement served as a vehicle by
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which GWCM could pass on profits to GWLA in disguised form. The 35 basis point fee
bears no reasonable relation to the cost of the services GWLA actually provided under
the Agreement.

25. Although the assets of the Funds have more than doubled from 2006 through
2014, GWLA has never reduced its 35 basis point asset-based fee, meaning that as
Funds assets increased, GWLA revenues have increased, and increased at a rate that
was far greater than the cost to GWLA of providing services to the Funds. The
Administrative Services Agreement has been immensely profitable to GWLA, providing
ever-increasing profits of millions of dollars per year. This is in addition to the immense
profitability of the investment advisory fees that GWCM took from the Funds, which
have increased from year-to-year and also are multiple millions of dollars.

26. As of May 1, 2015, GWLA and GWCM caused Great-West Funds to take over
the Administrative Services Agreement. Effective that date Great-West Funds entered
into an Administrative Services Agreement with GWLA directly whereby Great-West
Funds itself agreed to pay GWLA 35 basis points of the average daily net assets of the
Funds in return for the same purported administrative and recordkeeping services as
under the prior Agreements with GWCM. The terms of the May 1, 2015 Administrative
Services Agreement are identical in all material respects with the prior Agreements with
GWCM.

27. After Great-West Funds entered into the May 1, 2015 Administrative Services
Agreement directly with GWLA, GWCM reduced its advisory fee on all Funds by 35

basis points. In other words, the 35 basis points payment to GWLA, although previously
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made from GWCM's assets, in fact was always just a pass-through of 35 basis points of
Fund assets to GWLA.

28. On behalf of GWLA, GWCM presented to the Great-West Funds board the
proposal to enter into the Administrative Services Agreement directly with GWLA. The
Great-West Funds board did not engage in any significant analysis of the profits GWLA
had been making from the 35 basis point fee that GWCM had been paying, especially
since Fund assets had more than doubled, did not engage in any significant analysis of
the services GWLA provided or the cost of those services, and did not even attempt to
negotiate a lower fee on behalf of the shareholders of Great-West Funds. The Great-
West Funds board did not even attempt to put the Funds’ recordkeeping services out for
competitive bidding and did not obtain any information from sources not affiliated with
GWLA on what other companies have charged for similar services or what would be a
reasonable, arm’s-length negotiated fee. The Great-West Funds board did not even
guestion why GWLA should be paid an asset-based fee instead of a fixed fee, or a fee
based on number of Fund shareholders, even though the cost of providing its
recordkeeping and administrative services varies by the number of shareholders and
participants, not the amount of assets in the Funds. Instead, the Great-West Funds
board just uncritically accepted the exact same contract terms as GWCM had agreed to,
even though GWCM had no interest in negotiating terms favorable to Fund
shareholders and had as its only interest passing profits on to its parent GWLA.

29. In presenting the Administrative Services Agreement to the Great-West Funds

board for approval. GWCM was obligated under 15 U.S.C. 880a-15(c) (Investment
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Company Act §15(c)) to provide the Great-West Funds board all information necessary
for the board to evaluate the terms of the Agreement and had a fiduciary duty under 15
U.S.C. 880a-35(b) (Investment Company Act 836(b)) with respect to GWLA'’s receipt of
compensation under the Administrative Services Agreement. GWCM breached its
duties under 815(c) and 836(b) by failing to provide the Great-West Funds board
complete and accurate information regarding the profitability of the Agreement to
GWLA, the cost to GWLA of providing services under the Agreement, the exact nature
of the services GWLA provided under the Agreement, whether recordkeeping and
administrative services vary by assets under management, and whether GWLA would
be willing to provide its services at a fixed rate not dependent upon Fund assets or a fee
lower than provided in the Agreement.

30. The 2015 Administrative Services Agreement also has proved to be immensely
profitable to GWLA, providing it multiple millions of dollars in profits and an outsized
profit margin.

31. The Great-West Funds board must approve the Administrative Services
Agreement (or seek to amend it) annually.The board approved renewal of the
Administrative Services Agreement without meaningfully examining the profits GWLA
earned from that Agreement, examining and understanding GWLA'’s costs in providing
services under the Agreement, examining and understanding what services GWLA
provided, comparing GWLA's fees to the fees of other providers of similar services, or
putting the Funds’ recordkeeping services out for competitive bidding to determine the

true market rate for those services. The Great-West Funds board also did not even

10
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examine why GWLA was being paid an asset-based fee or whether GWLA could
provide the same services for a fixed fee or a fee lower than 35 basis points of Fund
assets. The Great-West Funds board did not obtain any information from sources not
affiliated with GWLA as to what would be reasonable compensation for the services
GWLA provided to the Funds.

32. In presenting the Administrative Services Agreement to the Great-West Funds
board for approval in 2016, GWCM was obligated under 15 U.S.C. 880a-15(c)
(Investment Company Act 815(c)) to provide all information necessary for the board to
evaluate the terms of the Agreement and had a fiduciary duty under 15 U.S.C. §80a-
35(b) (Investment Company Act 836(b)) with respect to GWLA's receipt of
compensation under the Agreement. GWCM breached its duties under 815(c) and
836(b) by failing to provide the Great-West Funds board complete and accurate
information regarding the profitability of the Agreement to GWLA, the cost to GWLA of
providing services under the Agreement, the exact nature of the services GWLA
provided under the Agreement, whether recordkeeping and administrative services vary
by assets under management, and whether GWLA would be willing to provide its
services at a fixed rate not dependent upon Fund assets or a lower fee than provided in
the Agreement.

33. Most of the work purportedly performed by GWLA under the Administrative
Services Agreement is for recordkeeping, which includes the keeping of individual
shareholder accounts and handling investments and distributions from and to

shareholders. Such recordkeeping services are essentially commodity services,

11
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required to be provided for all investment companies and defined contribution retirement
plans. Companies provide recordkeeping services on a fixed-price basis, including a
total dollar annual fee or fixed-dollar per investment account basis, not on the basis of a
percentage of mutual fund assets. That is because the cost to provide recordkeeping
services varies by the number of shareholder or participant accounts, not the amount of
money in the account. It costs no more to keep the records of a $100,000 account than
a $1,000 account.

34. Since 2011, DST Systems Inc. has been providing recordkeeping services to the
Funds under the terms of an Agency Agreement under which DST has been acting as
the Plans’ transfer agent and dividend disbursing agent. A transfer agent performs at a
mutual fund level the same recordkeeping work as is done at a retirement plan level.

35. The DST Agency Agreement was entered into as the result of arm’s-length
bargaining with a company not affiliated with GWLA. Therefore, it represents a true
market rate of the cost to the Funds for providing recordkeeping services. DST does not
receive compensation based on a percentage of the Funds’ assets. Instead it receives a
combination of fixed-dollar annual fees, fixed-dollar per Fund fees, and fixed-dollar per
Fund shareholder fees. Consequently, DST does not receive greater revenues and
profits as Fund assets increase even though its services and costs do not.

36. Among the services DST has been and currently provides is the use of its
computerized data processing system for mutual fund shareholder accounting, in which
all Fund shareholder account information is maintained and used for providing all

recordkeeping and administrative services. DST thus provides all core recordkeeping

12
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services for the Funds.

37. DST provides all or nearly all (if not in fact all) recordkeeping and administrative
services for the Funds. What additional recordkeeping and administrative services that
GWLA provides for the Funds are much more limited that what DST provides and are
based on DST’s services. For instance, GWLA may keep records of individual
participant accounts within an employer-provided retirement plan in which the plan is
treated as the Fund shareholder by DST. GWLA also may provide services such as call
centers or websites that retirement plan administrators or participants may access for
information about their plans or accounts. Those services, however, do not vary in
terms of the amount of money invested in an individual participant’s account, but
instead vary, at most, by the number of participants in the plan. GWLA (either directly or
through a subsidiary) also may just subcontract all of its work to DST and pay DST only
a small fraction of the asset-based fee it receives. GWLA receives far more in fees
relative to the services it provides than DST receives. DST receives far less than GWLA
for similar, if not the same, services.

38. Defined contribution plan recordkeeping services are commodity services which
many unaffiliated companies will bid for in a competitive process and provide on the
basis of a fixed dollar amount per participant and/or total fixed dollar amount per plan.
The defined contribution plans that GWLA establishes and maintains through Empower
Retirement and Great-West Financial, however, are not allowed to put their
recordkeeping services out for competitive bidding, but instead are captive within the

Great-West system and using GWLA (or its affiliates) for their recordkeeper, with the

13
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cost for providing those services embedded in the Great-West Funds or in the non-
Great-West Funds included in the Empower Retirement plans that pay a similar 35
basis point fee, which are the only investment options that GWLA allows in Empower
Retirement plans. Although recordkeeping fees for smaller defined contribution
retirement plans tend to be higher on a per-participant basis than for large plans,
because GWLA administers all of its Empower Retirement plans in a uniform manner,
all of those smaller plans can be treated as a single large plan in terms of bidding out
the cost for providing recordkeeping services and economies of scale, and the smaller
plans can benefit from a lower per-participant recordkeeping fee so long as the
fiduciaries responsible for those fees perform their duties and act for the benefit of Fund
shareholders.

39. GWCM and GWLA failed to fully inform the Great-West Funds board of the
disparity in the costs to GWLA of providing recordkeeping services under the
Administrative Services Agreement and the fees Great-West Funds paid for those
services, including the fact that the expense for paying for those services is account-
based, but the fees are asset-based, which ensured GWLA increased profits and higher
profit margins as Fund assets increased. GWCM and GWLA also did not clearly and
accurately report to the Great-West Funds board the true costs and profits of the
Administrative Services Agreement to GWLA, did not accurately describe the nature of
the services GWLA provided under the Administrative Services Agreement, and did not
completely and accurately provide the board information regarding the terms on which

unaffiliated companies such as DST provide such services.

14
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40. GWCM and GWLA did not provide the Great-West Funds board adequate
information on which to determine and the board did not properly determine that the
Administrative Services Agreement was in the best interest of Great-West Funds and its
shareholders, that all of the services to be performed under the Administrative Services
Agreement were required for the operation of Great-West Funds and were not being
performed by other parties, that GWLA could provide services of a nature and quality at
least equal to other providers, and that the 35 basis point fee was fair and reasonable in
light of the usual and customary charges made by others for services of the same
nature and quality, such as DST or other administrative services providers.

41. The Administrative Services Agreement does not provide for a reduction in the
percentage of assets fee paid to GWLA to share economies of scale that result from the
increase in Fund assets and neither GWCM nor GWLA nor the Great-West Funds
board made any determination of why that was beneficial to or in the best interest of the
shareholders of Great-West Funds. In fact, GWLA'’s 35 basis point fee has not declined
at all even though Fund assets have more than doubled.

42. GWCM and GWLA failed to provide the Great-West Funds board adequate
information by which to determine whether the Administrative Services Agreement
provides GWLA an excessive and unreasonable rate of return on the capital GWLA
invested (if any) in performing the services under the Administrative Services
Agreement and the Great-West Funds board never examined whether the rate of return
provided by the Administrative Services Agreement was reasonable.

43. GWCM and GWLA failed to provide the Great-West Funds board adequate

15
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information by which to determine that the profits from the Administrative Services
Agreement and the affiliated relationship between GWCM and GWLA as a whole were
reasonable and the Great-West Funds board never performed an adequate
investigation by which to make that determination.

44. For these reasons, GWCM and GWLA breached their fiduciary duties under
815(c) and 836(b) of the Investment Company Act in causing Great-West Funds to
enter into and renew the Administrative Services Agreement and in causing Great-West
Funds to pay excessive compensation to GWLA on the basis of a percentage of the
Funds’ assets. Consequently, GWCM and GWLA caused Great-West Funds to enter
into a joint enterprise, joint arrangement, and or profit-sharing plan in violation of 15
U.S.C. 880a-17(d) and 17 C.F.R. 8270.17d-1, meaning that the Administrative Services
Agreement is unlawful and unenforceable. The compensation GWLA received under the
Administrative Services Agreement thus was the transfer of Great-West Funds assets to
GWLA by unlawful means, and GWLA must disgorge to Great-West Funds all
compensation it received under that unlawful and unenforceable Agreement.

45. In addition, GWCM and GWLA breached their fiduciary duties under 836(b) of
the Investment Company Act by charging fees under the Administrative Services
Agreement that are so disproportionately large that they bear no reasonable relationship
to the services rendered and could not have been (and were not) the product of arm’s-
length bargaining.

The nature and quality of the services GWLA provides
do not justify the compensation it received.

46. GWLA does not provide services under the Administrative Services Agreement

16
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that are significantly different from the transfer agent services provided by DST, and
certainly are not so different as to justify the vast discrepancy between the asset-based
compensation paid to GWLA and the fixed-fee and per-account fees paid to DST. Any
additional services that GWLA does provide do not vary in cost with the amount of
assets in the Funds. The cost of those services either does not increase as Fund assets
increase, or increase at a slower rate. Therefore, an asset-based fee for GWLA's
services provides excessive compensation that bears no reasonable relationship to the
services provided. Moreover, GWLA's services are not so extraordinary or exceptional
as to justify its extraordinary and exceptional compensation.

GWLA'’s administrative services fees are immensely profitable.

47. As indicated above, the Administrative Services Agreement fees paid by Great-
West Funds to GWLA are immensely profitable to GWLA and have consistently
provided GWLA profits for the past 4 years. GWLA has provided its ultimate parent—
Great-West Lifeco Inc.—profits of $300 million in 2015 and 2014. GWLA's profits are
disproportionately large and unreasonable, especially in conjunction with the similar
profits made by its subsidiary GWCM.

GWLA receives numerous and immense fall-out benefits.

48. GWLA receives numerous and immense fall-out benefits that were not
adequately disclosed to or considered by the Great-West Funds board. GWLA receives
a 35 bps fee from all non-Great-West Funds that are included in Great-West asset
allocation funds. GWLA receives immense profits from the investment advisory fees that

its subsidiary GWCM takes from the Funds, which presently are the subject of two
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lawsuits under 836(b) of the Investment Company Act.

49. GWCM causes the Funds invest hundreds of millions of dollars in investment
contracts issued by GWLA by which GWLA promises to pay a fixed, small amount of
interest but earns far more from the investment of those funds in its general account.

50. GWCM and GWLA have structured the Great-West SecureFoundation® Lifetime
and Balanced Funds in such a way that anyone who invests in one of those Funds must
purchase a deferred annuity contract from GWLA at a cost of 90 basis points of her
investment in the Fund (charged monthly) in return for a nominal guaranteed lifetime
withdrawal benefit, which is immensely profitable to GWLA.

51. GWLA markets its retirement business through a business unit called Empower
Retirement, which provides GWLA a means to sell other insurance and annuity
products and executive benefits products to Empower Retirement plan sponsors and
participants.

52. GWCM and GWLA allow GWLA subsidiary Advised Assets Group LLC to
provide investment advisory services to Empower Retirement plan participants in return
for profitable fees and in return for steering participants into Great-West Funds that
profit GWCM and GWLA.

53. GWLA subsidiary Great-West Trust Company LLC provides trustee services for
a profitable fee for Empower Retirement plans.

Because GWLA's costs do not increase with Fund assets,

but its compensation does,
GWLA achieves but does not share economies of scale.

54. The Administrative Services Agreement provides no breakpoints or other

18
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provisions to ensure that Great-West Funds shareholders share in economies of scale
as Funds assets increased. GWLA's costs are fixed or do not increase as Fund assets
increase, although its compensation does increase. Therefore, as Fund assets increase
(and they have doubled over the past 5 years), GWLA'’s profit margins have increased,
as have its dollar profits.

55. The Great-West Funds board never considered and GWCM and GWLA never
presented information regarding any capital investment GWLA had to make to provide
services under the Administrative Services Agreement and whether GWLA had
recovered all such capital investments from years of receiving excessive compensation
directly from its subsidiary GWCM before May 1, 2015. While Fund assets have
doubled, GWLA has never reduced its 35 basis point, asset-based fee.

GWLA’s compensation is vastly excessive compared to other recordkeepers.

56. The Administrative Services Agreement provides vastly excessive compensation
compared to DST’s fee structure, which is not asset-based, considering that GWLA
provides essentially the same services that DST provides. In addition, other companies,
including non-affiliated companies, provide similar recordkeeping services for less than
what GWLA received and provide defined contribution plan recordkeeping services on
the basis of a fixed-dollar per participant, not a percentage of assets, which would
prevent excessive compensation merely as the result of an increase in plan or Fund
assets without a commensurate increase in the amount or the cost of the services

provided.
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The Funds directors did not act independently or conscientiously.

57. Investment companies that offer multiple mutual funds on average have 8
disinterested directors on their boards. The Funds had only 3 disinterested directors on
their board. One of those directors left the board in May 2016, and the other directors
still have not filled that position. The disinterested directors have consistently allowed
GWLA to put one of its executives on the board without any vetting, debate, or vote, and
until this year have consistently elected that interested director to be the chairman of the
board.

58. One of those directors, although technically not “interested” under the
Investment Company Act, nonetheless had close ties to GWLA because she
incorporated the predecessor to Great-West Trust Company LLC and was one of the
organizers of Great-West Trust Company LLC and served as a director of that
company. Two of the directors successfully solicited charitable contributions from
GWLA executives to favored charitable groups.

59. The directors never attempted to negotiate for lower fees from either GWCM or
GWLA and never rejected a request made by GWCM.

60. The disinterested directors have no outside experience with management of
investment companies and do not serve on any other investment company boards.
They are are all based in Denver, have limited accounting, investment adviser, and
investment company experience, and have such close ties with each other and GWLA
entities that they did not act independently and exclusively in the interest of the

shareholders of Great-West Funds. In fact, they have acted to promote GWLA'’s
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business interests and their own interests at the expense of Fund shareholders. The
directors have demonstrated their wholesale lack of understanding of investment
companies and the various fees that are deducted from mutual fund investments.

61. As shown above, the nominally disinterested directors of Great-West Funds
exercised no independence or conscientiousness in approving execution of the
Administrative Services Agreement, but instead merely rubber-stamped the same
Administrative Services Agreement that GWCM had entered into with its own corporate
owner. The board failed to conduct meaningful inquiries into the profitability and cost to
GWLA in providing services under the Administrative Services Agreement and whether
GWLA should be compensated by a percentage of Fund assets instead of a per-
account or fixed-dollar fee, and did not understand the nature of the services GWLA
provided in contrast to the services DST provided.

GWCM and GWLA have caused the Funds to suffer
millions of dollars in actual damages.

62. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ breach of their fiduciary duties,
Great-West Funds suffered millions of dollars in actual damages from excessive fees
paid to GWLA under the Administrative Services Agreement and the lost investment
gains on those assets that should have been retained by the Funds. The damages
suffered by the Funds are uniform among each of the Funds, in that each Fund paid the
same 35 basis point fee under a single Administrative Services Agreement approved by
the same board at the same meetings, and any compensation recovered for this breach
of duty will be recovered equally for each Fund, pro rata.

63. Plaintiffs are authorized by 15 U.S.C. 880a-35(b) to bring this action to recover,
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on behalf of and for the benefit of Great-West Funds the actual damages resulting from

Defendants’ breach of their fiduciary duties, including the excessive fees paid by the

shareholders and the Funds to GWLA as well as the investment returns that would have

accrued to the shareholders and the Funds had those fees remained invested in the

portfolios.

Prayer for Relief

Plaintiffs pray for relief and judgment on behalf of and for the benefit of the

shareholders and the Funds as follows:

Declare that Defendants violated 15 U.S.C. 880a-35(b) through the payment to
GWLA of unlawful and/or excessive fees under the Administrative Services
Agreement and enjoin Defendants from further such violations;

Award compensatory damages against Defendants, including repayment to the
Funds of all excessive and unlawful Administrative Services Agreement fees paid
by the Funds from one year prior to the commencement of this action through the
date of trial, lost investment returns on those amounts, and pre- and post-
judgment interest thereon at the rate of return of the respective Funds;

Rescind the Administrative Services Agreement between GWLA and Great-West
Funds under 15 U.S.C. §880a-46, and order restitution to the Funds of the
excessive investment advisory fees paid to GWLA by the Funds from one year
prior to the commencement of this action through the date of trial, lost investment
returns on those amounts, and pre- and post-judgment interest thereon;

Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorneys’ fees, expert witness fees, and costs from
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the fund recovered in this action such other items as may be allowed to the

maximum extent permitted by law; and
e Award such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

Jury Trial Demanded

Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury.
December 23, 2016 Respectfully submitted,

Is/ Jerome J. Schlichter
SCHLICHTER, BOGARD & DENTON LLP
Jerome J. Schlichter

Michael A. Wolff

Stephen E. Hoeplinger

100 South Fourth Street, Suite 1200
St. Louis, Missouri 63102
Telephone: (314) 621-6115
Facsimile: (314) 621-5934

Email: jschlichter@uselaws.com
mwolff@uselaws.com
shoeplinger@uselaws.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
District of Colorado

Joan Obeslo, et al.

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 1:16-cv-3162

Great-West Life and Annuity Insurance Company,
and Great-West Capital Management, LLC

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Great-West Life and Annuity Insurance Company
c/o District of Insurance
1560 Broadway, Suite 110
Denver, CO 80202

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Jerome J. Schlichter

Schlichter, Bogard & Denton, LLP

100 S. 4th Street, Ste. 1200

St. Louis, MO 63102

(314) 621-6115; jschlichter@uselaws.com

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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Civil Action No. 1:16-cv-3162

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(3 | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ;or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because ;or
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
District of Colorado

Joan Obeslo, et al.

Plaintiff(s)

V. Civil Action No. 1:16-cv-3162

Great-West Life and Annuity Insurance Company,
and Great-West Capital Management, LLC

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Defendant(s)
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address) Great-West Capital Management, LLC
c/o The Corporation Company
7700 E. Arapahoe Rd., Ste. 220
Centennial, CO 80112-1268

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:  Jerome J. Schlichter

Schlichter, Bogard & Denton, LLP

100 S. 4th Street, Ste. 1200

St. Louis, MO 63102

(314) 621-6115; jschlichter@uselaws.com

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint.
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:

Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 1:16-cv-3162

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date)

1 personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ;or

3 1 left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)
, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,
on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

(3 | served the summons on (name of individual) , Who is

designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ;or
3 | returned the summons unexecuted because ;or
(A Other (specify):
My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ 0.00

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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